

TPP: American Agriculture and the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) Agreement

Mark A. McMinimy
Acting Section Research Manager

August 30, 2016

Congressional Research Service

7-5700 www.crs.gov R44337

Summary

The Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) is a regional free trade agreement (FTA), which the United States concluded with 11 other Pacific-facing nations in October 2015: Australia, Brunei, Canada, Chile, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Peru, Singapore, and Vietnam. Approval by Congress (through implementing legislation) is required before TPP can enter into force. If the 12 TPP countries ratify the deal, TPP would materially increase the overseas markets to which U.S. agricultural products would have preferential access. Exports account for around one-fifth of U.S. farm production, providing material support to commodity prices and farm income.

For U.S. agriculture and food industry interests, much of the potential benefit from TPP lies in improving access to TPP markets by eliminating or lowering tariffs, and also increasing the quantity of products that may be imported on preferential terms under tariff rate quotas (TRQs). TRQs allow imports of a given product to enter duty-free, or at a reduced rate, within the quota amount. Quantities in excess of the quota are subject to higher duties that can be prohibitive. The opportunity to increase sales of farm and food products is expected to be greatest in the five TPP countries with which the United States has not concluded FTAs, particularly Japan and Vietnam.

For example, the TPP agreement would substantially lower the tariff that Japan applies to U.S. fresh, chilled and frozen beef cuts—from 38.5% currently to 27.5%—when the agreement enters into force, with further reductions down to 9% over 15 years. Significantly, this would place U.S. beef on par with the tariff treatment for Australian beef, which is the major competitor of U.S. beef in Japan and which currently enjoys a tariff preference under an FTA with Japan. Japan also would create new TRQs for U.S. wheat and rice, among other farm products, thereby expanding U.S. export opportunities across a number of product categories. The U.S. International Trade Commission has concluded that TPP would provide significant benefits to U.S. agriculture.

The corollary to the potential for greater export opportunities for U.S. farm products under TPP is that the United States would lower and eliminate tariffs on many agricultural product imports—such as tree nuts, peanuts, cotton, various fruits, tobacco, and wine, among others. The United States also would provide limited additional duty-free access to farm imports via new TRQs for dairy products and for sugar and sugar-containing products. U.S. farm products, such as beef, that enjoy preferential access to Canada and Mexico under the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) would relinquish that advantage as tariffs are lowered over time for TPP partners.

While tariff rate reductions and TRQs have long been a staple of trade liberalization efforts, TPP also seeks to address several non-tariff measures that can impede trade in food and agricultural products. Among these are sanitary and phytosanitary measures (SPS), which concern actions by governments to assure food safety and guard against plant pests and animal diseases. TPP seeks to curb the use of SPS measures as impediments to trade and provides procedures for resolving disputes that arise, including recourse to dispute settlement. TPP also aims to minimize disruptions to trade in products of agricultural biotechnology and to bring greater coordination to the use of geographic indications, which involve exclusive naming rights for distinctive products from specific geographic locations. TPP commits countries to eliminate the use of export subsidies for agricultural products, which the United States does not employ, and seeks to reduce technical barriers to trade in wine and spirits by creating common definitions of these products and by establishing parameters for labeling and certification.

As of August 2016, numerous major farm and food trade organizations had endorsed the TPP agreement, but support within the farm and food sector has not been universal. The National Farmers Union, the United Food and Commercial Workers Union, and organizations representing tobacco leaf growers are among those groups that have expressed opposition to the agreement.

Contents

Introduction	l
Key Considerations for Food and Agriculture	2
Projected TPP Impacts on U.S. Agriculture	5
Specific Market Access Commitments	5
TPP: Beyond Market Access)
Rules of Origin	
Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures	
Agricultural Biotechnology	
Geographical Indications	
Export Disciplines	
Food and Agriculture Stakeholders' Views on TPP	
Selected Agricultural and Food Groups Supporting TPP	
Selected Agricultural and Food-Related Groups Opposed to TPP	
Selected Agricultural Groups with No Definitive Position on TPP	
Next Steps	
Figures	
Figure 1. Comparison of Average MFN Import Tariffs in 2014 on Selected Agricultural Product Groups	3
Tables	
Table 1. Tariff Elimination Schedule for Selected Other Food and Agricultural Products in Selected TPP Countries)
Contacts	
Author Contact Information	5

Introduction

The Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) is a regional free trade agreement (FTA) among 12 Pacific-facing nations—Australia, Brunei, Canada, Chile, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Peru, Singapore, the United States, and Vietnam—that was concluded in October 2015. The TPP agreement is pending congressional approval, which is required for it to enter into force. If approved, TPP would become the largest FTA in which the United States is a participant. TPP seeks to liberalize trade across a vast range of goods and services, including agricultural products. As such, it could enhance export market opportunities for U.S. food and agricultural products while also raising the level of competition in agricultural markets in North America.

Exports make a vital contribution to U.S. agriculture, absorbing about 20% of total agricultural production, while representing a far larger share of the production of certain commodities, including wheat, rice, soybeans, cotton, almonds, pecans, pistachios, and walnuts, to name a few. As such, foreign demand for U.S. food and fiber contributes materially to higher commodity prices and farm income. The positive ripple effects from farm trade extend beyond farmers and ranchers to rural communities; farm input industries that provide seed, fertilizer, and machinery; and commodity processors and food manufacturers with a stake in foreign markets. Exports also can contribute to higher input prices for food to the extent that additional foreign demand is not met by an increase in domestic supplies, although commodity costs amount to a fraction of overall retail food prices. Rising farm productivity, market-oriented U.S. farm policies, and the prospect of competing on more favorable terms for a larger share of the faster-growing food markets in many developing countries are among the reasons that negotiations aimed at liberalizing agricultural trade among TPP countries have elicited a high level of interest and broad-based engagement from U.S. agriculture and food industry interests.

TPP countries already loom large in U.S. farm and food trade: Between 2011 and 2015, U.S. agricultural exports to these countries averaged \$63.5 billion, or 42% of total exports, while TPP countries were the source for \$60.9 billion in U.S. agricultural imports, amounting to about 47% of the U.S. total. Even so, it appears the TPP agreement reached in October 2015 would significantly improve market access for many U.S. food and agricultural products, potentially enhancing U.S. competitiveness in a number of TPP markets. At the same time, the trade deal also would provide TPP partners with greater access to U.S. product markets, potentially raising the level of competition among some U.S. products. In May 2016, the U.S. International Trade Commission (ITC) issued a report on the projected economic impact of the agreement on the U.S. economy as a whole as well as on specific industry sectors, including agriculture and food, and on consumers as mandated by P.L. 114-26, the law that provides the President with trade promotion authority, and as discussed in the section titled "Projected TPP Impacts on U.S. Agriculture".

The text below identifies four considerations about the TPP agreement that are particularly relevant for U.S. food and agriculture. Next, the report summarizes key conclusions of the projected effects of implementing TPP for U.S. food and agriculture based on analysis undertaken by ITC and the American Farm Bureau Federation. This is followed by a partial snapshot of some of the higher-profile changes in market access for agricultural products in the agreement, a summary of selected provisions beyond market access that are of particular interest to

_

¹ To view the text of the Trans-Pacific Partnership agreement, see https://ustr.gov/tpp/#text.

² Trans-Pacific Partnership Agreement: Likely Impact on the U.S. Economy and on Specific Industry Sectors, U.S. International Trade Commission, May 2016, at https://www.usitc.gov/publications/332/pub4607.pdf.

stakeholders in food and agriculture, a brief overview of industry reactions to the agreement, and a review of what actions need to occur for the agreement to enter into force for the United States.

Key Considerations for Food and Agriculture

An overarching consideration is that among significant TPP markets, the United States lacks free trade agreements (FTAs) with five TPP countries: Brunei, Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, and Vietnam. Among these five, the most significant for U.S. agricultural exports are Japan, Vietnam, and Malaysia. With a combined population of roughly 250 million, these three countries likely offer the greatest potential for boosting U.S. farm and food exports via lower tariffs, or expanded tariff rate quotas (TRQs).³ Significantly, all three countries impose much higher average applied most-favored-nation (MFN)⁴ agricultural tariffs than the United States, which could work to the advantage of U.S. farm and food exports versus domestic suppliers and non-TPP export competitors as tariffs decline under the agreement. In 2014, applied MFN tariffs on agricultural products averaged 5.1% in the United States, 9.3% in Malaysia, 14.3% in Japan, and 16.3% in Vietnam.⁵ Moreover, as illustrated in **Figure 1**, existing tariff peaks are far higher for a number of product categories. Examples include dairy and poultry imports into Canada; bovine meat, rice, and dairy products into Japan; and Vietnamese tariffs across a number of food categories.

Japan is likely the leading agricultural market opportunity in the TPP due to its highly protected farm and food markets, large population, and high per capita gross domestic product. Vietnam, with the fourth largest population in the TPP and a fast-growing economy, is viewed as a market that could hold significant future growth potential for U.S. farm and food products. At the same time, preferential access that U.S. food and agricultural interests have to markets in Canada and Mexico under the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) would become available to a wider group of potential competitors over time as tariffs are lowered within the TPP zone. For instance, U.S. rice grower interests have expressed concern that the additional access the agreement would provide for U.S rice in Japan might not offset the potential loss of U.S. rice exports to Mexico as Mexico progressively lowers its 20% duty on Vietnamese rice under TPP.⁶

_

³ Under a TRQ, lower tariffs are applied to in-quota imports, while higher tariffs are imposed on imports in excess of the quota amount.

⁴ The MFN rate is the normal non-discriminatory tariff charged on imports from WTO members, excluding preferential tariffs under free trade agreements and other schemes, or tariffs charged inside quota regimes.

⁵ World Tariff Profiles 2015, World Trade Organization, at https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/tariff_profiles15_e.pdf.

⁶ For more, see U.S. Rice Producers Association, *The Rice Advocate*, August 12, 2016, at http://www.usriceproducers.com/files/609_2016.08.12_TRA.pdf; and USA Rice, *USA Rice Daily*, May 19, 2016, at https://www.usarice.com/news-resources/daily/usa-rice-daily/2016/05/19/in-depth-analysis-of-tpp-shows-rice-right-to-abstain-for-now.

Japan Malaysia United States Vietnam **Animal Products Dairy Products** Cereals and Preparations Oilseeds, Fats and Oils Fruits, Vegetables and Plants Beverages and Tobacco 0 40 80 100 20 60 120

Figure 1. Comparison of Average MFN Import Tariffs in 2014 on Selected Agricultural Product Groups

(in percent ad valorem)

Source: World Trade Organization, World Tariff Profiles 2015.

Notes: Most-favored-nation (MFN) tariffs are normal non-discriminatory tariffs, excluding preferential tariffs under free-trade agreements or tariffs charged inside quotas.

Also significant is that potential key export expansion opportunities for U.S. food and agricultural interests, such as beef and pork to Japan and dairy products to Japan, Canada, and Vietnam, generally are to be phased in over a period of years, if not decades. For certain products in certain countries, including Japan for beef, pork, and whey powder, and the United States for some dairy products, safeguard measures allow for additional tariffs to be imposed for a period of time if imports should exceed specified thresholds.7 Generally, the quantitative trigger level for invoking safeguard measures would increase over time even as duties imposed under the safeguard are scheduled to be reduced or eliminated.

If the United States chooses not to implement the TPP agreement, U.S. agricultural export competitors would have an opportunity to gain a competitive edge over U.S. exports of certain products to Japan and elsewhere. This could occur as a result of existing preferential tariff arrangements—such as Australia's Economic Partnership Agreement with Japan—or by ratifying an agreement similar to TPP without U.S. participation. As an example, Australia already enjoys preferential tariffs rates on its beef exports to Japan compared with the tariff rates imposed on U.S. beef. TPP would place U.S. beef on an even footing with Australian product in Japan. Also, while the European Union is not party to the TPP, it is negotiating FTAs with Japan, Malaysia, and Vietnam that could enhance its competitive position in those markets. How "Brexit," or the vote in the United Kingdom to withdraw from the European Union, will affect the course of these negotiations is not yet entirely clear.

Finally, it is worth recognizing at the outset what the TPP agreement is not designed to accomplish. Similar to other FTAs, the TPP generally would not address domestic subsidy regimes that may tend to distort trade. Attempting to impose disciplines around domestic subsidies schemes has generally been the province of multilateral trade negotiations under the auspices of the World Trade Organization (WTO) and its predecessor, the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT).

Agriculture and Food in the TPP: Where to Find It

The TPP agreement consists of 29 chapters that span a broad sweep of topics, such as market access, financial services, labor, environment, rules of origin, and others. The following chapters are those that are of most direct interest to the food and agricultural sectors:

- Chapter 2 Market Access: tariffs, tariff-rate quotas and safeguards
- Chapter 3 Rules of Origin: determining whether goods qualify for TPP benefits
- Chapter 7 Sanitary & Phytosanitary Measures (SPS): addressing health and safety-related measures
- Chapter 8 Technical Barriers to Trade: technical regulations and standards with annexes that address wine
 and distilled spirits; proprietary formulas for prepackaged foods and food additives; and organic
 products
- Chapter 18 Intellectual Property: Geographical Indications (Gls)
- Chapter 29 Exceptions: dispute settlement carve out for tobacco control measures with implications for tobacco product manufacturers

⁷ Under the TPP agreement, Japan would have safeguards for beef, pork, whey, oranges, and race horses. The United States would have safeguards for skim and whole milk powders and some cheese. For details, see Office of the U.S. Trade Representative, Trans-Pacific Partnership, Annex 2-D at https://medium.com/the-trans-pacific-partnership/national-treatment-and-market-access-for-goods-741f0639c2de#.3emfyxje7.

Projected TPP Impacts on U.S. Agriculture

ITC, in a report issued in May 2016, concluded that TPP would provide significant benefits for U.S. agriculture, mainly by eliminating tariffs and expanding markets protected by TRQs. The report was mandated by the trade promotion authority legislation (P.L. 114-26). The quantitative results in the report reflect ITC's model, which projects TPP outcomes for U.S. agriculture in year 15 (2032), compared with a baseline scenario without TPP.⁸ Among the model's results were the following:

- U.S. agricultural exports would be \$7.2 billion higher (2.6%), while agricultural imports would increase by \$2.7 billion (1.5%). Other macro effects include a gain of \$10 billion (0.5%) in U.S. agricultural output and an increase of 0.5% in agricultural employment.
- U.S. dairy product exports would increase by \$1,85 billion, or 18%, while processed foods and beef would be expected to post gains of \$1.54 billion (3.8%) and \$875 million (8.4%), respectively. But corn and rice exports could be marginally lower.
- U.S. imports of processed foods are projected to be \$427 million higher (1.1%) with TPP than without it, while beef imports would be increased by \$419 billion (5.7%), and imported dairy products would post an increase of \$349 million, or 10.3%.
- U.S. export gains stem primarily from greater market access via lower tariffs and expanded TRQs, with the lion's share of the total increase of \$7.2 billion concentrated in Japan (\$3.6 billion) and Vietnam (\$3.3 billion).

Separately, the American Farm Bureau Federation, a large general farm organization that supports ratification of the TPP, issued its own analysis of the effects of TPP on American agriculture in February 2016. It concluded that TPP would boost U.S. farm income by \$4.4 billion per year once it is fully implemented compared with a second scenario it modeled under which the United States does not implement TPP and the 11 remaining signatories ratify an equivalent agreement. For perspective, since 2011, U.S. net farm income has ranged from a high of \$123.3 billion in 2013 to low of \$56.4 billion in 2015.

Although support for TPP is broad-based among stakeholders within food and agriculture, it is by no means universal. For additional detail, see the section entitled "Food and Agriculture Stakeholders' Views on TPP."

⁸ ITC's quantitative analysis reflects simulation from a dynamic computable general equilibrium model of trade among the 12 TPP countries and the rest of the world. The dynamic nature of the model is intended to capture the effects of the TPP agreement over time from its entry into force. For more detail, see https://www.usitc.gov/publications/332/pub4607.pdf.

⁹ See *Comments Regarding Effects of Trans-Pacific Partnership Agreement on the United States Agricultural Sector*, American Farm Bureau Federation, at http://www.fb.org/issues/tpp/pdf/TPP%20Full%20Report.pdf.

Specific Market Access Commitments

The TPP agreement would affect market access for a broad range of agricultural commodities and food products. What follows is a non-comprehensive selection of some of the notable changes by commodity that are included in the agreement.

- **Beef**: Japan ranks as the largest U.S. export market for beef and beef products, according to the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA). Under the TPP agreement, Japan would drop its current tariff on fresh, chilled, and frozen beef from 38.5% to 27.5% in year one, with subsequent annual reductions to 9% by year 16. A special safeguard duty would be applied during the transition period if imports exceed specified quantities. The safeguard duty would be progressively lowered each year, while the quantitative trigger would be increased. Japan would lower tariffs on other beef products as well, while Vietnam would eliminate such tariffs over three to eight years. The United States, for its part, would eliminate tariffs on beef and beef products that range as high as 26.4% in no more than 15 years and in fewer than 10 years in most instances.
- **Pork**: Japan, which also ranks as the leading market in the world for U.S. pork and pork product exports, would immediately cut its tariff of 4.3% on fresh, chilled, and frozen pork cuts to 2.2%, phasing out the residual over nine years. A separate duty on pork cuts under Japan's "gate price system," which acts as a minimum import price, would be lowered immediately to 125 yen per kilogram, from 482 yen now. This duty would then be cut to 70 yen in year five and subsequently lowered each year thereafter to reach 50 yen in year 10. A special U.S.-specific safeguard would allow Japan to temporarily increase the duty during this transition period if imports were to exceed a trigger level. Vietnam would eliminate tariffs that are as high as 34% on pork and pork products within 10 years, while the United States would immediately eliminate most such tariffs.
- Poultry: Canada would allow incremental increases in access to its highly protected poultry and egg markets over five years via new duty-free, TPP-wide TRQs amounting to 2.3% of domestic production for eggs, 2.1% for chicken, 2% for turkey, and 1.5% for broiler hatching eggs. Thereafter, the quotas would be raised moderately each year, plateauing in year 19, at which point these TRQs would amount to 19 million dozen eggs, 26,745 metric tons of chicken, 3,983 tons of turkey, and 1.14 million dozen broiler hatching eggs and chicks. Vietnamese tariffs on poultry of up to 40% would be eliminated within 13 years. U.S. tariffs of up to 18.6% ad valorem equivalent would be eliminated within 10 years.
- Dairy: Opening dairy markets to greater import competition was among the most difficult agricultural issues to resolve. Under the agreement, Canada would allow incremental additional access to its highly protected dairy product markets amounting to 3.25% of its output for 2016 under TRQs that would be phased in over five years, with moderate annual increases thereafter. For perspective, this additional access would amount to about 0.3% of current U.S. milk production and would be open to all TPP countries. These Canadian TRQs for dairy products, such as fluid milk, butter, cheese, and yogurt, would be increased over a period of 14 to 19 years and then would remain fixed. In-quota dairy products

would enter Canada duty free.11 Canada also would eliminate its over-quota tariff of 208% on whey powder over 10 years. Japan would eliminate many tariffs it imposes on cheese imports within 16 years and on whey within 21 years. The United States, in part, would gradually phase out tariffs and establish TRQs for dairy products from Australia and New Zealand that would be increased annually. Existing preferential access for Australian dairy products under the U.S.-Australia FTA would be transferred to perpetual TRQs. New U.S. TRQs for Canadian dairy products would be raised gradually each year until year 19 of the agreement, at which point the quantities would plateau. The individual TRQs the United States would provide for Canadian dairy products include cheese; skim milk and whole milk powder; dried yogurt, sour cream, whey, and milk constituent products; concentrated milk; sour cream, ice cream, and milk beverages; butter and butter substitutes; and other dairy products.12

- Corn and Corn Products: Japan would create a new country-specific quota (CSQ) for U.S. corn and potato starch of 2,500 tons that would increase to 3,200 tons in six years, and would expand a TPP-wide TRQ for starches. Vietnam would eliminate tariffs as high as 30% within four to seven years and a tariff of 5% on feed corn in five years. Malaysia would immediately eliminate tariffs of up to 8%. U.S. tariffs as high as 3.4% would be eliminated within 10 years.
- Soybeans and Soybean Products: Japan would immediately eliminate a 4.2% tariff on soybean meal and, within six years, would eliminate a tariff of up to 13.2 yen/kg on soybean oil. Vietnam's tariff of 5% would be eliminated immediately, while tariffs on soybean products would be eliminated within 11 years. Malaysia would immediately eliminate tariffs of up to 10%. U.S. tariffs on soybean products of up to 19.1% would be eliminated within 10 years.
- Wheat and Wheat Products: Japan, the largest importer of U.S. wheat, limits its wheat imports through an existing TRQ, which accounts for 90% of its imports. A government-imposed markup on in-quota wheat to domestic buyers of 17 Japanese yen per kilogram would be lowered over nine years to between 8.5 and 9.4 yen, depending on the wheat variety imported. Japan also would establish a new duty-free, country-specific quota (CSQ) exclusively for U.S. wheat of 114,000 metric tons (equal to about 0.5% of U.S. wheat exports in the 2014/2015 marketing year), which would be increased to 150,000 tons in seven years and which also would be subject to the same progressively lower markup price. Japan also would provide new CSQs for U.S. processed wheat products, such as mixes, doughs, and cake mix. The initial CSQ for these products of 10,500 tons would be increased to 12,000 tons over six years, as well as new TPP-wide TRQs for wheat products and wheat-based food preparations. Vietnam would eliminate tariffs of up to 31% within four years, while Malaysian tariffs as high as 7% would be eliminated immediately. U.S. tariffs that are as high as 6.8% would be eliminated within 10 years.

¹¹ For information on individual Canadian TRQs, see Office of the U.S. Trade Representative, Trans-Pacific Partnership, Canada Appendix A Tariff Rate Quotas, at https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/TPP-Final-Text-Canada-Appendix-A-Tariff-Rate-Quotas.pdf.

¹² For information on individual U.S. TRQs, see Office of the U.S. Trade Representative, Trans-Pacific Partnership Agreement, U.S. Appendix A Tariff Rate Quotas at https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/TPP-Final-Text-US-Appendix-A-Tariff-Rate-Quotas.pdf.

- Barley and Barley Products: Japan would establish a new TPP-wide TRQ for barley of 25,000 metric tons that expand to 65,000 tons over nine years along with a progressive reduction in the maximum markup it imposes on quantities under this TRQ from 7.6 yen to 4.4 yen over nine years. Moreover, Japan would eliminate its tariff on feed barley of 39 yen per kilogram. It also would create new duty-free CSQs for imports of U.S. unroasted and roasted malt. The CSQ for unroasted malt would begin at 20,000 metric tons and increase to 32,000 tons over six years, while that of roasted malt would increase over 11 years from 700 tons to 1,050 tons. U.S. tariffs would be eliminated once the agreement enters into force.
- Rice: Japan, the second-largest overseas market for U.S. rice, would establish a new duty-free quota for U.S. rice of 50,000 tons initially, rising to 70,000 tons in year 13, but still well below the 165,000 tons the U.S. rice industry had sought. Japan also would allow a broader range of domestic entities to participate in tenders on this additional quota, as well as on 60,000 tons of rice under an existing quota. But the "minimum markup" Japan imposes on rice imports of 22 yen/kg would continue to be applied to all imports. U.S. tariffs on rice products of up to 11.2% would be eliminated within 15 years.
- Cotton: All of Vietnam's tariffs on cotton, which range up to 10%, would be eliminated in four years or fewer. In 2014, nearly all of Vietnam's imports of U.S. cotton, amounting to nearly \$400 million, consisted of cotton that was not carded or combed, which already enters duty-free. U.S. tariffs on cotton that range as high as \$0.314 per kg generally would be eliminated within 10 years, and in some cases would be removed immediately.
- Tree Nuts: Japan immediately would eliminate tariffs on certain fresh and dried nuts, including tariffs of 2.4% on almonds, 10% on walnuts, and 4.5% on pecans. An existing zero tariff rate on pistachios would be locked in. Vietnam would eliminate tariffs of 5% to 20% on walnuts and 10% to 20% on almonds by year three of the agreement. U.S. tariffs of up to \$0.265 per kg on fresh or dried nuts would be eliminated within five years, whereas imports of prepared or preserved nuts would generally be tariff-free within 10 years, except for nut mixtures from Australia, which would be phased over 20 years.
- Citrus Fruits: Japan would eliminate tariffs of 16% and 32% on oranges over six and eight years, respectively. The higher tariff—currently in force from December through May—would be shortened to December through March, thereby extending the lower tariff season to April through November. The higher tariff period would be subject to a safeguard for seven years, beginning at 35,000 metric tons and increasing by 2,000 tons each year, with a corresponding tariff of 28% in the initial five years and 20% for the final two years. A 10% tariff on grapefruit would be eliminated in six years. Tariffs on orange juice and grapefruit juice of up to 28.9% would be phased out in eight years and six years, respectively, while a 6% tariff on lemon juice would be eliminated immediately.
- Non-Citrus Fruits: Japan's tariff of 17% on fresh apples would be reduced by 25% immediately, then eliminated in equal annual stages over the next 10 years. The tariff of 8.5% on fresh cherries would be cut in half upon entry into force of the agreement and eliminated over the next five years. Tariffs on fresh grapes of 7.8% and 17% (depending on the season) would be eliminated immediately, as would a 1.2% tariff on raisins. A tariff of 6% on fresh apricots, peaches,

nectarines, plums, strawberries, raspberries, and cranberries would go to zero immediately, as would a 6.4% tariff on kiwifruit and a 3% tariff on avocados. Vietnam would eliminate over three years tariffs of 15% on fresh grapes and apples and a 17% tariff on raisins, and would eliminate over two years a 20% tariff on fresh cherries, among other reductions. Malaysia would immediately eliminate its 5% tariff on fresh grapes. The United States would immediately eliminate tariffs on fresh apricots, cherries, mangoes, papayas, peaches, pears, plums, and strawberries.

- Sugar: The United States would expand access to its market for sugar incrementally by establishing new TROs for sugar and sugar-containing products totaling 86,300 tons annually. For perspective, this quantity would have amounted to 2.4% of U.S. sugar imports in the 2014/2015 crop year. Australia and Canada would immediately receive new duty-free quotas totaling 65,000 tons and 19,200 tons per year, respectively. The residual would be split between Japan, Malaysia, and Vietnam. The Australian and Canadian TRQs include the potential for expansion in years when additional U.S. sugar imports are required. The additional TRQ for sugar is not expected to threaten the budget-neutral requirement of the U.S. sugar program, but it could displace a portion of Mexican sugar exports to the United States, which are managed under bilateral suspension agreements. ¹³ Japan would provide new TROs that would expand access to its market for sugar and sweetener-related processed products on a duty-free, or preferential-tariff-rate basis, including chewing gum, chocolates and products containing chocolate, confectionery goods and other such products, and would eliminate tariffs on various sweetener products over time.
- Tobacco: U.S. tariffs on tobacco of up to 350% would be eliminated within 10 years, while Japan would eliminate tariffs on smoking tobacco and cigars over 11 years, and Malaysia would eliminate all tariffs on tobacco and tobacco products over 16 years. Vietnam would create a TRQ of 500 metric tons for unmanufactured tobacco imports that would increase by 25 tons each subsequent year, with no limit from year 21. Vietnam also would eliminate in-quota tariffs on unmanufactured tobacco over 11 years and for all tobacco leaf in 21 years. Vietnamese tariffs on blended tobacco, cigars, and other tobacco products would be eliminated over 16 years. A controversy has emerged over a provision in the Exceptions chapter of the agreement that allow countries to deny recourse to protections under the investor state dispute settlement (ISDS) to tobacco product manufacturers for claims directed at tobacco control measures. This optional exclusion would not apply to leaf tobacco, although to the extent that tobacco product sales could be blunted by this provision it would appear to have the potential to affect sales of leaf tobacco.

USDA has compiled summaries with additional detail on how the agreement addresses market access for numerous farm commodity groups, which includes a limited selection of additional food and agricultural products that would be subject to liberalized terms of trade under the TPP agreement. ¹⁴ **Table 1** provides a timetable for tariff elimination for a selection of food and agricultural products in specific TPP markets.

¹³ For more on the U.S. sugar program and the U.S.-Mexico sugar suspension agreements, see CRS Report R43998, *U.S. Sugar Program Fundamentals*, by Mark A. McMinimy and CRS Insight IN10552, *Revisiting U.S.-Mexico Sugar Agreements*, by Mark A. McMinimy.

¹⁴ See USDA, Foreign Agricultural Service, "TPP Benefits for Specific Agricultural Commodities and Products," at (continued...)

Table 1. Tariff Elimination Schedule for Selected Other Food and Agricultural Products in Selected TPP Countries

Product	Acting Country	Timetable
Frozen French fries	Japan	Within 6 years
Poultry, eggs, and egg products	Japan	Within 6-13 years
Fresh/chilled broccoli, tomatoes, lettuce, and garlic	Japan	Immediate
Peanuts and peanut products	Japan	Within 6-11 years
Wine	Japan	Within II years
Ethanol	Japan	Within II years
Dried apricots, prunes, and apples	Malaysia	Immediate
Beer, wine, and spirits	Malaysia	Within 16 years
Peanuts and peanut products	United States	Within 10 years
Potatoes	United States	Within 10 years
Wine	United States	Within 10 years
Tree nuts, fresh/dried	United States	Mostly immediate, but within 5 years
Peanuts and peanut products	Vietnam	Within 8 years
Frozen French fries	Vietnam	Within 4 years
Hides and skins	Vietnam	Immediate
Wine and spirits; beer	Vietnam	Within 12 years; 11 years

Source: Tariff schedules of the TPP Agreement, released November 2015.

TPP: Beyond Market Access

The TPP agreement addresses a number of trade-related measures beyond tariffs and TRQs that are of importance to producers and exporters of food and agricultural products. In its report on the likely effects of the TPP agreement on the U.S. economy and specific sectors, including agriculture, ITC specifically cites new provisions in the areas of sanitary and phytosanitary measures (SPS), technical barriers to trade (TBT), and biotechnology as being among the beneficial elements in the agreement for U.S. agriculture. The text that follows summarizes provisions in the agreement that address rules of origin, SPS, agricultural biotechnology, geographic indications (GIs), export programs, and TBT.

Rules of Origin

Only goods that are considered to be of TPP origin can receive the benefit of preferential tariff rates and TRQs in the agreement. As concerns agricultural products, the criteria for determining

(...continued)

http://www.fas.usda.gov/data/tpp-benefits-specific-agricultural-commodities-and-products.

whether a product is wholly obtained, or produced entirely, within the territory of one or more TPP parties—and thus entitled to benefit from TPP preferences—is as follows:

- Plants that are grown, cultivated, harvested, picked, or gathered in a TPP country;
- A live animal born and raised in a TPP country;
- A good obtained from a live animal in a TPP country;
- An animal obtained by hunting, trapping, fishing, gathering, or capturing in a TPP country;
- Additional criteria are provided to determine whether fish, shellfish, and marine life are of TPP origin.

A de minimis provision in the agreement allows for goods to be considered of TPP origin even if they include content from non-TPP members as long as the value of all the non-TPP content does not exceed 10% of the transactional value of the good. The agreement articulates a number of exceptions to this 10% de minimis rule for certain agricultural goods. These exceptions include dairy products and preparations that contain more than 10% milk solids by dry weight and which are used to produce various other dairy products, as well as infant formula, mixes and doughs, ice cream, and animal feeds. Also not covered by the de minimis rule are certain edible oil-bearing crops of non-TPP origin used to produce vegetable oils, including soybean oil and peanut oil; citrus juices and various fruit of non-TPP origin that are used to produce certain fruit and vegetable juices; and non-TPP peaches, pears, and apricots (whether fresh or dried) that are used in the production of prepared or preserved fruit.

Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures

As tariff rates have been lowered for food and agricultural products in recent decades, non-tariff barriers have gained greater visibility as obstacles to trade. Among the non-tariff measures the TPP seeks to address are sanitary and phytosanitary measures (SPS), which consist of actions that address issues of food safety, plant pests, and animal diseases. 15 Notably, the SPS obligations in TPP go beyond the WTO SPS agreement in a number of substantive areas, including risk assessment, risk management, transparency, border checks and laboratory testing, and rapid response to issues that arise over export shipments. Among SPS commitments TPP addresses are the establishment of an SPS committee composed of TPP member representatives; an obligation to base SPS measures either on international standards or on objective scientific evidence and to select risk management measures that are no more trade-distorting than necessary; a commitment to allow for public comment on the development of SPS measures. Moreover, the agreement commits TPP countries to providing rapid notification of shipments held on importation. Such notification is to be communicated within seven days of when an inbound shipment is restricted or prohibited. Importantly, SPS disputes are to be addressed first in technical consultations among governmental authorities under a procedural timeline established in the agreement. If the issue cannot be resolved through technical consultations, parties may turn to dispute settlement procedures in the agreement.

-

¹⁵ For more information on SPS, see CRS Report R43450, *Sanitary and Phytosanitary (SPS) and Related Non-Tariff Barriers to Agricultural Trade*, by Renée Johnson.

Agricultural Biotechnology

The TPP agreement commits the signatories to increase transparency and provide notification of national laws and regulations pertaining to products of agricultural biotechnology products. ¹⁶ It also encourages information sharing on issues related to the occurrence of low-level presence (LLP), or trace amounts, of biotech material in food and agricultural products. To minimize LLP occurrences and any disruptions to trade that may result from such incidents, both importers and exporters commit to exchange certain information, such as product risk assessments and new plant authorizations.

The agreement also establishes a working group on agricultural biotechnology within the TPP Committee on Agricultural Trade. The working group is to function as a forum for exchanging information on issues such as national laws, regulations, and policies affecting trade in biotech products. Finally, the agreement states that parties are under no obligation to adopt or modify existing laws, regulations, or policies that apply to biotechnology.

Geographical Indications

Geographical Indications (GIs) are geographical names that act to protect the quality and reputation of a distinctive product originating in a certain region. As such, GIs can be commercially valuable and, as intellectual property, can provide eligibility for relief from acts of infringement or unfair competition. GIs are most often, but not exclusively applied to wines, spirits, and agricultural products. Examples of GIs include Parmesan cheese and Parma ham, Champagne, Florida oranges, Idaho potatoes, Washington State apples, and Napa Valley wines. GIs have become a point of controversy in international trade because GIs that are considered by some to be protected international property are considered by others to be generic or semi-generic names and thus not protected. For example, "feta" is considered a generic name for a type of cheese in the United States, but is a protected GI in the European Union (EU). As such, U.S.-produced "feta" cannot be sold under that name in the EU. This type of exclusivity can extend beyond the EU, for example, when a third country has agreed to recognize EU-approved GIs under a bilateral trade agreement.

The TPP agreement obligates members that provide for recognition of GIs to make this process available and transparent to interested parties within the TPP, while also providing a process for canceling GI protection. Parties that recognize GIs also are to adopt a procedure by which interested parties may object to the provision of a GI before it is officially recognized. Among the reasons the agreement lists for opposing a GI are: (1) the GI is likely to cause confusion with a trademark that is recognized within the country, (2) a pre-existing application is pending, or (3) the GI is the customary term for same item in the common language of a country.

Specific to wines and spirits that are "products of the vine," TPP members are not required to recognize a GI of another member if the GI is identical to the customary name of "a grape variety existing in that party's territory." The criteria for determining whether a term is the customary common name for a good, include whether the term is used to identify the good in dictionaries, newspapers, and websites, and whether the term is the name by which the good is marketed and referenced in trade in the country.

¹⁶ For more information on agricultural biotechnology, see CRS Report RL32809, *Agricultural Biotechnology: Background, Regulation, and Policy Issues*, by Tadlock Cowan.

Finally, concerning other international agreements involving TPP members that provide for the protection of GIs, the TPP agreement states that members are to make available to interested parties information concerning the GIs involved in other agreements and to allow them a reasonable opportunity to comment on, and to oppose, the prospective recognition of the GIs. These obligations would not apply to international agreements that were concluded, agreed in principle, or ratified or that had entered into force prior to the entry into force of the TPP agreement.

Export Disciplines

On the topic of agricultural export programs, signatories to the agreement commit to eliminate the use of export subsidies, a type of incentive the United States does not employ in any case. The export subsidy ban is seen mainly as setting a standard for future reform on a multilateral basis. A commitment around export credits, credit guarantees, and insurance programs—which the United States does employ—is less ambitious: the agreement merely states that the parties will cooperate to develop multilateral disciplines around these programs. The agreement also discourages restrictions on exports of food and agricultural products. To this end, it commits TPP countries to limit such restrictions to six months and requires a country that imposes such restrictions for more than 12 months to consult with interested TPP importing countries.

Technical Barriers to Trade

Technical barriers to trade (TBT) refer to technical regulation, standards, and the conformity assessment procedures of government bodies that affect trade in goods. Among the annexes to the TBT chapter, three have relevance for food and agriculture.

- 1. Wines and Distilled Spirits—the TPP chapter on TBT marks a first by including an annex specific to wines and distilled spirits. In essence, the agreement establishes parameters for labeling and certification of products, including what information is permitted on the label and terms that may not be excluded, such as "chateau," "reserve," and others, while seeking to preserve the ability of government regulators to protect consumers. It also creates common definitions of wine and distilled spirits and commits signatories not to require that a wine-making practice be disclosed on a label or container except for legitimate health or safety reasons.
- 2. **Proprietary Formulas for Prepackaged Foods and Food Additives**—the agreement provides that in adopting and applying technical regulations and standards, TPP members are to limit information requirements to what is necessary to achieve legitimate objectives and assure commercial interests are protected by treating the confidentiality of the information from other member states as it would for domestic products.
- 3. **Organic Products**—TPP members that have rules and regulations governing the production, processing, and sale of organic products are encouraged to exchange information concerning organic production and certification and to cooperate with other TPP members to improve and strengthen international guidelines and standards. Members that maintain requirements for organic products also are encouraged to consider expeditiously any requests from other TPP members for recognition or equivalence of standards, technical regulations, and the like. When such a request is denied, an explanation of the rationale behind the denial is to be provided.

Food and Agriculture Stakeholders' Views on TPP

Numerous interest groups in the food and agricultural sector have stated their positions on the TPP agreement. The following section identifies the public positions taken by selected food and agricultural organizations and commodity groups on the TPP agreement since the text was issued on November 5, 2015.

Selected Agricultural and Food Groups Supporting TPP

- Among organizations that have expressed their support for TPP are the American Farm Bureau Federation, the American Feed Industry Association, the American Peanut Council, the American Seed Trade Association, the American Soybean Association, the International Dairy Foods Association, the National Association of Wheat Growers, the National Cattlemen's Beef Association, the National Chicken Council, the National Cotton Council, the U.S. Poultry and Egg Export Council, the National Corn Growers Association, the National Milk Producers Federation, the National Pork Producers Council, the Sweetener Users Association, the United Fresh Produce Association, the U.S. Dairy Export Council, the U.S. Grains Council, the U.S. Wheat Associates, and the Wine Institute.
- In addition to specific interest groups, a number of Agricultural Technical Advisory Committees (ATAC), comprised of stakeholders within food and agriculture, provided input to the President, the U.S. Trade Representative, and Congress on the completed TPP agreement. The ATAC for Trade in Fruits and Vegetables strongly endorsed the TPP as a positive for "the vast majority of wine grape, nut, fruit and vegetable growers, packers, processors and marketers." Participating committee members included representatives of the Almond Board of California, the Florida Tomato Exchange, California Fresh Fruit Association, National Pecan Growers Council, Texas Citrus Mutual, Washington State Potato Commission, and Western Growers, among others.
- Separately, the ATAC for Trade in Sweeteners and Sweetener Products expressed
 that unanimous view that the TPP agreement achieved the overall and principal
 negotiating objectives established by Congress under TPA (P.L. 114-26).
 Participating members included representatives from the American Sugar
 Alliance, American Sugar Beet Growers Association, the American Sugarcane
 League of the USA Inc., and the Corn Refiners Association, among others.
- The ATAC for Trade in Processed Foods praised numerous aspects of the agreement, citing unprecedented new market access opportunities for processed food exports and enhanced SPS commitments, but it did not endorse TPP outright. Among the criticisms cited in its report are that dairy product TRQs provided by Canada and Japan would not provide meaningful new access to those markets. It also objected to the product-specific exception to recourse to dispute settlement that can be applied to tobacco products.

Selected Agricultural and Food-Related Groups Opposed to TPP

• Groups that have expressed opposition to TPP include the Burley Tobacco Growers Cooperative Association, the National Farmers Union, R-CALF USA, the U.S. Rice Producers Association, and the United Food and Commercial Workers Union International (UFCW). The UFCW, which represents workers in the grocery, retail, meat-packing, and food-processing industries, faults the agreement for the lack of an enforcement mechanism against currency manipulation, which it contends will nullify the benefits of tariff reductions while contributing to the transfer of U.S. jobs to lower-wage markets overseas.

Selected Agricultural Groups with No Definitive Position on TPP

• USA Rice is prominent among agricultural interest groups that have not adopted a position in support of or opposition to the TPP agreement.

Next Steps

On February 4, 2016, trade ministers from the 12 TPP negotiating countries signed the TPP agreement. For the agreement to enter into force, Congress would need to pass implementing legislation that would codify tariff rates included in the agreement and enact other changes required to make U.S. laws consistent with the terms of the final agreement. There is no time limit for Congress to act on the agreement until such time as legislation is introduced to implement the agreement. Following the introduction of implementing legislation, Congress would have up to 90 days to take an up or down vote on the bill without amendments.¹⁷

Author Contact Information

Mark A. McMinimy Acting Section Research Manager mmcminimy@crs.loc.gov, 7-2172

¹⁷ For more on congressional process concerning TPP, see CRS In Focus IF10297, *TPP-Trade Promotion Authority (TPA) Timeline*, by Ian F. Fergusson.